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Yo

S-TEPHEN JIN-WOO KIM,

.Defen.daxit :

DEFEN DANT STEPH@N KIM’& RI‘PLY TO THE G()VERNMF NT’

Pursuant to the com*s. July;; 9, 201-3-,. Order, Defmdm“ smphm’ Kim, by' and through
undersigned counsel, files this replﬁ;:to thc government’s oppos’iﬁbn to his ﬁfth motion to compel
discovery. | »

L introductian
| In its opinion on defendant’s third motion to compel discovery, the Court ordered the
-government to notify the defense wixethcr “the Government intends to offer evidence of the
‘Defendant’s motive at trial ... so as to allow the Defendant sufficient time to seek discovery at
B Icast helpful to the defense in rebumm; the (}ovemmcnt’s evidence of motive,” Opmxon on
o _'Iihxrd Motaon at 18. After the govemment notified the defense of its intent to present three
separate motxy.e theones, the defensc sought discovery as to each of those theoriss, as well as
certain other items that remained pending following the Court’s earlier rulings. See Fifth Motion
to‘Compel Disoerq'. In its dpposi%ion, the government refuses to produce any further discovery |
on its new fnotive theories, treating lts own evidence as if it is essentially irrebuttable. The
government’s response .i_s; plainly insufficient under this Com‘t’s prior rulings and the applicable |

law,
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The government spends the first eighteen pages of its forty-three-page opposition

éttempting to convince the Court of two things: first, that there is not a “significant information
asyxiunetxy’-’ in this case because the government has produced over 16,600 pages of unclassified
material and over 3,500 pages of cigssiﬁed material, see Opp. at 6-9; and second, that it has such
compelling evidence of each of its three motive theories that the Court should not order any
further discovery, see Opp. at .-948.;; Neither of these two points is persuasive, or even relevant.

With respect to the scope of the discovery provided to date, the govemnment’s staterients
are extraordinarily nﬁsféaﬁing A{though it has -pmdxi@ed “over 16,600 pages of unclassified
v discovm-y,” the government fails to menuon that of that number, almcst 7,300 pages consist of
* nothing more than non-content phem dam (pan register and “trap and trace” results, US-2112 to |
9402) and over 5,100 pages consist .of nothmg more than nonmntent email data (18 US.C. §
| 2703(d) orders, US-9403 to 1 4;532); Three-fourths of the total cited by the government, in other
. wvonds, lacks any content. v

The government also states that it has produced “over 3,500 pages of classified .
discovery,” but again that statcmentts misleading. Several hundred pages of classified discovery
consist of nothing morc‘t‘hém the s&gc, six-page investigative questionnaire filled out by each of
| more than ope hundred ~g0meen€'employees and contractors who accessed the intelligence '
‘rcport at issue. Three hundred pagcs arethe same docxnnants that had already been produced to
| ‘the defense once with 8 ‘treat 4s ciassxﬁed” header, but now bear classification markings.
(CLA.SS,_3239~3550). And the‘gowmmcnt fails to mention that, as the defense noted in its
discovery letter of October 6, 201 I, it actually dld search the defendant’s classified hard drive,
which presumably would have contained at least some of the classified emails and intelligence

repors accessed by Mr. Kim, See Ex. 1 at2-3. Of more than 6,000 electronic items that were
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mem%mm
responsive to a list of keywords provided by the defense, the government chose to produce less
than one percent of those documents (37 out of more than 6,000 items). Jd The government has
not produced defendant’s classified email records, nor has it produced the classified intelligence
rcpoxts that he accessed during the time period in question. The government’s élaim that it has
been forthcoming with classified discovery, or that there is not a signiﬁcgnt information
asymmetry in this case, is sheer folly. |
The government also discusses the “factual background” of its three motive theories at

. length, using a series of emails to arguc that Mr. Kim had some motive to leak the intelligence

_ report at issue. See Opp. at 9-18. i_‘he government’s opinion of its own evidence does not
<hange the fact that, as this Court previously recognized, ﬁm defense is entitled to discovery to
rebut the government’s claims. 'I‘be motive theories described by the government in its
-opposition also differ materially from the broad, vague -t‘heor‘ies-desaﬁaed in the government’s
June 12th letter. While the gQV'cmnent_’s actual motive theories have become a moving target,

- the defense is still entitled to the dlSCOVCIZY that it seeks. The specific items requested by the
defense are addressed in turn b_elmz?.
II.  The Specific Discovery Itgsix_ns at Issue

' A. Motive Evidence
1. "fhe Govemg,nent’s Chosen “Fox News” Theory
By letter dated June 12, 2013, the government notified the defense of its intent to

introduce evidence that Mr. Kim leaked the intelligence report to Mr. Rosen because he “wanted
to resign from his government position and find a new job, including at Fox News as a specialist
in Korean and East Asian affairs aud national security issues.” See Fifth Motion, Ex. 3. To rebut
the government’s theory that Mr. Klm leaked the contents oj-in order to curry favor with
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Fox News at the same time that he had access to other, more newsworthy documents, the defense
requested the production of other classified intelligence reports accessed by Mr. Kim between
May 1, 2009, and June 11, 2009. See Fifth Motion, Ex. 1, at 2.

In its response to the defens%c’s discovery requests, the government stated that it was
“working with the Intelligence Community to formulate a potential response to this request.” |
See Ftﬁh Motion, Ex. 2, at 4. Wheén no such faspowe was forthcoming, the defense moved the

- Court to set a deadline for the gove;'nmcnt to respond to the defénse's requést or to order the
governmient to produce the requestéd_ materials. See Fifth Motion at 6.

Ln its opposition, the government objects to the defense’s suggestion that the Court set a
dcadliné for the government’s response, arguing that it would be ‘,‘prémaiu:e” for the Court to set
such a deadline before the meet-and-confer process is complete and the “scape” of the
defgndant’s request has been determined. See Opp. at 20-21. Inthe govemment’s view, the
request is “not ripe for decision by the Court” because discussions between the parties remain
"‘bngqing;” Id at20. The govemmzni then proceeds to argue, however, that the defense’s

. request is “overbroad and bears Kittie relation to the government’s motive theory” because it is
not limited to addmonal intelligence reports satisfying “multtpie cntena” contmned in a May 22,
2009 email from James Rosen.! Id. at 20—24

With respect to the scheduling issue; the defense respectﬁﬂly submﬁs that some deadline

is necessary at this point. The defense submiﬁ:ad its request more than two months ago, on June

! Throughout the parties’ discussions on this issue during the meet-and-confer process, the
govermnent never once mentioned Mr. Rosen’s May 22, 2009, email, let alone argued that the
“criteria™ contained in that email samehow defines the universe of discoverable information.
The meet-and-confer process is only productive if the parties make a genuine effort fo resolve
the discovery requests at issue, If the government truly believes that the May 22nd email sets
forth certain relevant “criteria” (an argument addressed in tum below), it could have said so two
months ago. Instead, as of the date of this filing, it still has yet to provide whatever response it is
“formulating” to this request.

I
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14, 2013. The request flowed naturally from the government’s own decisiqn to rely on motive
evidence, and therefore could not have come as a surprise to the government. See Opinion on
Th;rd Motion at 18 (ordering the gévcmmmt to notify the defense if it intends to offer motive
* evidence “s0 as to allow the Defendant sufficient time to seek diScOvery at least helpful to the
defense in rebutting the Government’s evidence of motive™). It should not take over two months
to “formulate a potential response” to a discovery request, particularly when the request itself
| wag the result of the government’s own decision to pursue its motive theory.
| As to the government’s argémcnt that the request is overbroad, tfbis is notﬁing more than
. an axwmpt to put the genie back in the bottle once the xmphcatxons of thc gavcrmnent’s mcuve
'v'-thmry became clear.” Inits nonce, the government claimed that one of Mr. Kim’s motives for
allegedly leaking the intelligence report at issue was that he “wanted to resign from his
Qovemment positioﬁ and find a new job, including at Fox News as a specialist in Korean and
East Asian affairs and national security issues.” See Fifth Motion, Ex. 3. Notably, the
" government’s motive theory was not limited to North Korea (“Korean and East Asian affairs and
national security issues”) or even t@ Fox News (“including at Fox News”). | |
After reviewing the defense’s discovery letter, ,howéver, the gévmmt decided to move
n tho geal posts claiming that its metlve theaory is lumted to certain “cntana” cazltamed in one

o spemﬁc email sent by James Rosenon May 22,20093 See: OPP at 21“23 On the basis of ts

2 The government essentially acknowledges this is the case, stating, “The United States advises

the Court that if the Intelligence Community’s equities that are implicated by the defendant’s
- requests for additional classified information and material regarding & givén motive theory

cannot be adequately protected in this case, then the government would expect to be required to
- abandon that theory for trial purposes.” Opp. at 11 n.9.

3 Bven the government’s sub-headings in its opposition demonstrate the changing nature of its

motive theory. After notifying the Court and the defense of its intent to introduce evidence that
Mr. Kim “wanted to resign from his government position and find a new job, including at Fox
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 own interpretation of a single cmaxl the government asserts that the only intelligence reports that
are “relevant and helpful” to Mr. Kim’s defense are those that satisfy “multiple criteria”
allegedly established by Mr. Rosen in the email. Jd. This assertion is as illogical as it is
unsuppoxwd by the discovery already produced in this case. '
First, the government’s argument proceeds from the flawed premise that the only way for
Mr. Kim to curry favor with Fox News was to provide information fesponsivc to a single email.
Such a position defies common sense, To accept the government’s argumient, one would have to
b&lievc that if Mr. Kim had walked up to James Rosen and handed himn a collection of documents
detailmg a secret domestic surveillance program called PRISM (ala Edward Snowden), Mr.
S Rnsen would have refused the mformamon because he was “focused solely on North Korea,”
7‘ ‘fOpp.‘ at 22, or because PRISM wannot one of “the actual iﬁtclligenc@t@pmﬁ concering Noith
Korea” that he had “expressly requ;:sted,” id., or because some of the PRISM slides did not have
| markmgs indicating that they were .»:both “TOP SECRET” and “further compartmented,” id at
22:23. Nothing about the May ZZr;d email (or any other evidence relied upon by the
gévemment) lends any credence to such a fanciful assumption, whidﬁ isa ;question for the jury in
any Gvem
| Second, the May 22nd email itself‘cannoi bear-the Wexght the gd#cmment places upon it
E _ xn its oppomtmn The govemment’s strained reading of the email as containing “mumple
mtﬂna” is entlrely inconsistent with the content of the email 1tself Thc government clauns, for
_ -exgmpla, that “Mr. Rosen [sic] i mqymes to the defendant focused sclely on North Korea.” Opp.
'. .:s;t 22, That is false. Ia fact, the email states, “What I am interested in ... is breaking news ahead

of myeompﬁttm I want to report authoritatively, and ahead of my competitors, on new

Nem,;" the gow)emment_ now titles thc relevant section of its opposition, “The Defendant Was
Seeking Employment at Fox News.” See Opp. at 10.
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initiatives or shifls in U.S. policy, events on the ground in North Korea, what intelligence is
picking up, ete.” Opp. at 17 (emphasis added). Only one of those three topics “focuses” on
North Korea, and the list expressly ends with “etc.”  a clear indication that the list was non-
exhaustive. Put simply, neither Mr. Rosen’s reporting assignments nor Mr. Kim’s job
respt;nsibilities was limited to North Korea. The government therefore has no basis to assert that |
' the only information that would intjcrcst Mr. Rosen involved North Korea, or that Mr. Kim was
mofivated by the same belief.
Similarly, the government asserts, as its second “criteria,” that the email contains a.
discrete list of “actual intelligence topics concerning North Korea that Mr. Rosen expressly
| mqucsted from the defendant on May22, 2009.” Opp. at 22. That, again, i;..falsé. Mr Rosen
dcscnbes the list of topics cited by the government as & list of “possible examples,” a phrase that
: is about as far away from a finite ligt of requested topics ag one can unagm& See Opp. at 17.
"I‘h’_e list of “possible examples™ also reflects the list of tqpicé addressed above, which expressly
ends with “etc.’; To atgue, as the government does, that discovery sho.u;d be limited to the topics
'expressl_y mentioned ig this list of ‘:‘poss‘ibie examples” is simply to ignore the actual content of
theomailitelf. .
The other “criteria” urged by the government fare no better. The govemmmtarguesthat
inﬁéﬂigencg reports accessed by Mr Kim prior to the May 22nd email are ot discovcmble
because Mr. Rosen had not ptovidéd “instructions” to Mr. Kim unil that date.* Opp. at 22 Thxs ’
argument wrongly assumes that Mr. Kim was physically incapable of retaining or re-accessing
information, i.e., that for some reason the only information he possibly could have shared with

Mr. Rosen on May 22nd was information that he first learned on that date. This is nonsensical.

* The defense obviously disagrees with the government’s characterization of the May 22nd email
as containing “instructions” from Mr. Rosen to Mr. Kim.
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Individuals with access to classified information are aware of many things that they may have

learned wecks or months ago, that gﬁﬂ have not been publicly disclosed, and whose disclosure
'-wc‘fuid certainly qualify as “hreakmg news.” Judged by that standard, the defense’s request for
intelligence reports accessed by Mr. Kim between May 1, 2009, and June 11,2009, is quite
narrow.” The date of Mr. Rosen’s May 22nd email cannot serve as a useful proxy for the date
upoh which Mr. Kim first accessed information that may have interested Fox News, as the
human mind is not a dry erase board wiped clean every morning,®
The government also asserts that the specific classification markings on an intelligence
: report are soméhow rcievan:t 1o whsthﬁr disclosure of the information contained therein would
" curry favor thh Fox Ne:ws. See Opﬁ. at 22-23. ‘The government does not explain whji this is 50, |
nor is it immediately apparent how this relates tothe defense’s roquest, which is limited to
‘;inmlligcncc réports” that are presumably classified, and thus contain the type of “sensitive”
information referenced by the government. See Opp. at 22-23. In any event, the government’s
proposed “sensitivity” criteria is difac‘-tly contradicted by the content of the May 22nd Rosen

email, whlch states thai’ “internal memos” and “internal State Department analyses” would be of

5 The request is qumz a bxﬁ narrower, in fact, than one would expect if the defense were truly
txymg to “graymail” the government, as the government repeatedly (and predictably) complains.
These types of false and baseless accusations are entirely improper, patticularly in a case where
‘the gavernment chose to bring a criminal case under the Espionage Act involving classified

- information and to pursue multlplc theories of motive that further implicate classified :
‘information. If the government is so concerned about disclosing classified mﬁonnation to three -

cleared defense counsel working in a SCIF, perhaps it should have resolved thjs case

' administratively rather than cmmnally, as the Attorney General recently suggested. See Ex. 2 at
6.
¢ The government’s proposed date “criteria” of May 22, 2009, is also inconsistent with its own
description of Mr. Kim’s alleged “deep interest” in joining Fox News. The government bases its
motive theory in part on a cover letter sent to Fox News in March 2008, over fifteen months.
prior to the alleged disclosure in this case. See Opp. at 11. If Mr. Kim’s alleged desire to join
Fox News in March 2008 is relevant, then the fact that he had access to information of
significant value to Fox News during the same time period is also relevant. The government
cannot have it both ways,
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intérest to him without once memiéning the classification level of the information at issue. See
Opp. at 17. The goverrmlent‘s.»pm};oﬁﬁd fourth “criteria” is thus nowhere to be found in the May
22nd email, and appears to have b&n invented by the government.”

Finally, in addition to its Wpt to recast the May 22nd email into a list of discovery
“criteria,” the government also img;mperly attempts to twist the defense’s efforts to reach an
accommodation on this issue into a “concession.” See Opp. at 23. Based on the defense’s offer
during the meet-and-confer ﬁroccss to “review a list of the titles of the intelligence reports

accessed by Mr. Kim during the requested time period” to “identify those reports that best satisfy
the discovery request,” see Fifth Mﬁﬁog at 7 (emphasis added), the gavernment asserts that the

’defcnse- “effectively o comes '_ os” that it request is “gverbroad.” Opp. at 23. The govemment then -

states tnaccurately thatthe defmdant “assert{ed)” that the government “must produce
classified mformatmn so thathe can detamnne whether it would be relevant and helpful to his
defense.” Opp. at 23 (emphasis ingoriginal}. The defense never made any such assertion, and the
government’s statements to the oontrary are entirely off-base.

During the meet-and-confer process, the government complained that Mr. Kim accessed

- a large number of intelligence reports, and that reviewing and producing those reports would be

'burdensomcf Inan eifcrt to reach a resolution, the defense offered in good faith (and as a first

‘by the stammmts of several of ns own. mmesses Iohxi Heazbcxg, for example, descnbed the
information contained in the mpmt as a “nothing burger.” See CLASS_1200.

¥ The government has complamed about this repeatedly, without once indicating how many
intelligence reports Mr. Kim accessed during the relevant time period. The defense asked the
government to substantiate its complaint by providing the number of intelligence reports at issue,
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step) to review a list of the ﬁﬁes of the intelligence reports at issue fo help determine which
reports “best satisfy” the dxscoveryrequzst Fifth Motion at 7. If the defense could quickly
identify a set of reports that suﬁélenﬁy satisfied the purpose of the request, the government
could be spared the time aud expcnj,se of producing other intelligence reports responsive to the
réquest The defense made this offer in an effort to accommodate the government and to resolve

 the issue quickly, not to “&meliomt;je»the government’s classified information privilege equities.™
Opp. at 23. H is unfortunate that the goveinment has chosen not only to reject the defense’s

 offer, but fo mischaracterize a settlement proposal as a concession.

When the defenge offered th,iS accommodation, it did rot assert “that the United States
must produce classified information so that he can determine whether it would be relevant and
helpful to his defense.” Opp. at 23 (emphasis in original). The term underlined by the
government does not appear in the @efense’s motion, which states quite clearly that the defense
offered to identify those re_pdrté thaft “best” satisfy the discovery request. Fifth Motion at 7. The
question “whether” the requested répgrts are relevant and helpful cannot scriously Ee in dispute,
m hght of the Court’s prior mhngs and the government’s subsequent decision to rely on motive

evidence. The guvcmmmt had falr warmng that, if it chose to prcsent motive evidence, it would

so that the pames and thc Court can cngage in somethmg more than mere speculauon (and find a
way to resolve the issue, if necessary) See Fifth Motion at 6-7. It is telling that the government
still has not done so.

% The government often repeats thxs phrase, as if it is the defense’s or the Court’s responsibility
to protect its undefined “equities.” “To the contrary, the law is quite clear that even if the
government establishes some privilege, privileged information that is “at least helpful to the
defense of the accused” must be produced. See United States v. Mejia, 448 F.3d 436, 456 (D.C
Cir. 2006); United States v. Yunis, 867 F.2d 617-621-23 (D.C. Cir. 1989); United States v. Aref,
533 F.3d 72, 80 (2d Cir. 2008). Moreover, the government fails to explain how its “equities” are
threatened by disclosure of the information to three cleared defense counsel working in a SCIF,
The CIPA process is designed to provide the govemment with advance potice of any classified
information that may be disclosed when the case is tried, and to allow the government to propose
substitutions and redactions when appropriate. Whatever “equities” exist, they are overcome if
the Yunis standard is satisfied at thig stage. -
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also be compelled to produce the intelligence reports requested by the defense in order to rebut
the government’s theory. Having dbc-ided to present such evidence, the government cannot now

complain that it has opened itself up to discovery requests that threaten its “cquities.”®

2. The Government’s Chosen_Theury
In its June 12th letter to the defense, the gavemmem also annoﬁnced its intent to
introduce evidence that Mr. Kim leaked the intelligence report because it “confirmed the
accuracy of his view that North .Kare— See
Fifth Motion, Ex. 3. On that basis, thc d@féhse moved to compel the _ﬁioducﬁan of documents
- regardmg Mr. Kim’s aﬂaged “viéwé‘ as well as any intelligence reports regarding North Korea’s
_amcsmd by Mr. Kim between June 2008 (when he started working
_,at”ihe State Depar’tmcmj and June 1 1, 2009 (the date of the alleged disclosure).. See Fifth Motion
&t 7-10. o |
In its opposition, the gox‘rerﬁment argues that the information requested by the defense is
irrelevant becauge the government’s motive theory is “narrowly focused on the defendant’s
beliefs on June 11, 2009.” Opp. at 25; see also id, at.28-29, On that basis, the government
' cénteﬁds that documents reflecting Mr. Kim's views on North Korea S| N
| -prim' to June 11, 2009, aré»if'rrelevam‘ because they would not “rebut the government’s
evidence demonstrating thai' he beljeved (‘righﬂy or Wrongly) that North Kmea_ :

19 At the end of this discussion, the government states that it is nonetheless “searching for
intelligence reports that could be résponsive” to the defense’s request and that, if it identifies
such reports, it will “seek the Court’s direction under CIPA Section 4.” Opp. at 24. The defense
again objects to this process, as ex parfe proceedings are to be employed only under the “rarest
of circumstances.” United States w. Libhy, 429 F. Supp. 2d 18, 21-22 (D.D.C. 2006), amended
by 429 F. Supp. 2d 46 (D.D.C. 2006). In this instance, theee is no reason why a discussion of
whether intelligence reports expressly requested by the defense are “relevant and helpful” to the
preparation of Mr. Kim's defense would have to take place without defense counsel present.




Case 1:10-cr-00225-CKK Document 217 Filed 11/13/13 Page 12 of 29

—’“ Opp, at 25. The government similarly argues that “[i]t is

| -irrelevant whether [the defendant’s] beliefs regarding the program at that time were right or

. wrong,” or whether they “were supportcd or refuted by other classified North Korean
intelligence reports,” or whether the intelligence report at issue “was, in fact,—
the government’s moﬁvc theory are the defendant’é'belicf regatd_

-on June 11, 2009, and his belief that thc-n:port confirmed his

views.” Opp. at 28. The goverment can obviously describe its own theory of motive however
it would like, but its response to the defense’s requests nﬁssaé-the‘point
| As the defense explained in_éits motion, the defense-will argue that the mere fact that an
intelligence report “confirms” o_né*é view on 4 particular subject does fiot generally serve as &
x’noti?e to leak the report unless thei'e is something particularly noteworthy or unique about the
alleged “confirmation.” See Fifth Motion at 9-10. If Mr. Kim acoesécd a dozen reports in the
months leading up to June 11, 2009, that similarly “confirmed” his alleged view that North

Ko_he mere fact that the mtelhgence report at issue in

 this case also “confirmed” his view could hardly serve 8s a reason to leak this particular repot,

as opposed to any oe of the dozen carlier teports corntaxmng the same mformatmn.’z The

. The dcfense cannat help but nott: the irony of this argument. As ev:denoe of Mr, Kim's
- purported motive, the government cites emails and other documents from March 2008; February
. 4,2009; March 18, 2009; April 16, 2009; May 11, 2009; May 20, 2009; May 22, 2009; June 4,
2009; June 12, 2009; June 13, 2009; June 14, 2009 and June 15, 2009. See Opp. at 11-18.
Notably absent is a single email or other document from June 11, 2009, the date the
government’s motive theory is allegedly “narrowly focused on.”

2 The defense requested additional documents regarding Mr. Kim’s alleged views on North

' for the same reason, To rebut the government’s theory,
ﬂwdefeme would show both that Mr. Kim accessed carlier intelligence reports oontammg
similar information regarding North Korea’s and that he held the same views at that
time. In its opposition, the government states that it “has produced all discoverable classified
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government fails to address this argument in its opposition, nor does it explain why evidence
demenstrating that Mr, Kim accessed earlier intelligence reports confirming the same “view”
would not undermine its motive theory. This concession by the government is itself sufficient to
compel production of the reports requested by the defense.
The government similarly glﬂsses over the defense’s argumeni that there is a significant

AR s_

Klm s aﬂcged view that

North Korc_ See Fiﬁh Motion at 10, To detenmne wheﬂlex Mr.
T —
j —“oonﬁmmd the accuracy of his view that North Ko_ :

' — he jury must be permitted to Qonsidar’what-glse MrKlm knew about

North Korea’ s-dunng the Same time period. Jd. If Mr. Kimhad accessed information

,—‘h"‘ defense must

be permxtted to present that evxdencse to the jury to rebut the govcmment’s assertion that Mr. Kim

The. govexmncnt responds that it has “evidence [that] would show that the defendant

believed that the infelligence trgformation in th-eport conﬁrmed bis own view

that Nox:th Kore— Opp at 15 (emphasxs added); see also id at 14~16 29,

But that statement is demonstmbly false. None of the emails ot madmxssxble out«of«court

. documents responsive to the defendant’s request,” that “any adr.hhonal T ive classified

" material ... further demonstrates the defendant’s belief that North K.cm%

) and that the government “has also not identified any documents in the
to June 11, 2009, tending to show that the defendant believed that North Korea)

Opp. at 25, 26, 27 n.26. Based on the government's
representations, the defense agrees to withdraw its request for additionsl documents regarding
Mr Kim's alleged views. See Opp. at 27; Fifth Motion at 8-9 (Item III—A-2(a))

13
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statements cited by the government in its opposition addresses “the intelligence information in
thcport,” much less shows that Mr. Kim viewed the report as confirming his own
views. See Opp. at 14:16. To the contrary, the evidence cited by the government in its

apposition consists of emails and discussions that took place on June 13 and June 15, addressing

the North Koreas |||
I
The chronology of the emails relied upon by the government casts further doubt on its
aftempts (o avoid producing materials related to its‘— Despite the
government’s claim that its theory “is narrowly focused on the defendant’s beliefs on June 11,
2009,” see Opp. at 25, the emails relied upon by the government were sent onJune 13 and June
15, not June 11. The govermhexit fails to:ekplain why these emails from June 13 and June 15
would be relevant to the defendant’s state of mind on June 11. Moreover, none of the emails
cited by the government state that Mr. Kim or any of his colleagues viewed the intelligence
report, or even the June 11 Rosen article, as confirming their views regarding-
. -To the contrary, the email strings relied upon the government did not bcgiri until
two days ot [
-Tllat two-day gap cdmpf%tcly undermines the govenunenfstheory. |
Ultimately, the decision to pursue this line of evidence was of the govemment’s own
making, Once that decision was made, the government must actually prove its motive theory,

and must provide the defense with the discovery necessary to support ot rebut its theory at trial.”

13 In its opposition, the government refies on a decision from the Southern District of New York
for the proposition that inculpatory information can never satisfy the Yunis standard. See Opp. at
19. That proposition is not correct in this Circuit. The D.C. Circuit has held that information
“can be helpful without being ‘favorable’ in the Brady sense — a point to which we alluded in
Yunis I United States v. Mejia, 448 F.3d 436, 457 (D.C. Cir. 2006); see also United States v.

Trentas Classitie | NN ot vt icct to-CLRA-Protective Ordex
14
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The fact that the government believes that a handful of emails establish the defendant’s guilt is
not an adequate reason to deny a request for the production of otherwise discoverable
information.
3 The Government’s Chosen “Disgruntied Employee” Theory

In its motive letter, the government also announced its intent to argue that Mr Kim
leaked the intelligence report because he “was a disgruntled government employee because he
believed his insights regarding North Korea were being ignored or rejected by other government
personnel.” See Fifth Motion, Ex. 3. The government’s motive letter did not state which
govcmment employees Mr. Kim believed were ignoring or rejecting his insights, nor did it state
when Mr. Kim allegedly became disgruntled. Id

During the meet-and-confer process, the defense sought clarification of the gov.ermnent’s
vague “disgruntlement” theory, but the government refused to provide any further explanation.
The defense thus moved to compel the production of “any documents or other evidence tending

to support or refute the government’s claim that Mr. Kim was a ‘disgruntled employee’ and/or

Aref, 533 F.3d 72, 80 (Zd Cir. 2008). This makes sense, given that the Court of Appeals has long
held that inculpatory evidence can satisfy the materiality standard for Rule 16 purposes. See
United States v. Marshall, 132 F.3d 63, 68 (D.C. Cir. 1998) (“But this language does not mean
that inculpatory evidence may never be material. To the contrary, a defendant in possession of
such evidence may ‘alter the quantum of proof in his favor’ in several ways . . . ."). Evidence
that is arguably inculpatory can be “at least helpful to the preparation of the defense,” see United
States v. Yunis, 867 F.2d 617, 621-23 (D.C. Cir. 1989), by allowing the defendant to prepare a
strategy for confronting damaging evidence at trial, conducting an investigation to discredit that
evidence, or by not presenting a defense which is undercut by such evidence. Marshall, 132
F.3d at 68; United States v. Al Odah, 559 F.3d 539, 545 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (holding that '
information not exculpatory on its face may still be material); United States v. Libby, 429 F.
Supp. 2d 1, 7 (D.D.C. 2006) (holding that discovery of inculpatory evidence ensures that the
defendant is aware of both the “potential pitfalls” and the strengths of his strategy). “Inculpatory
evidence, after all, is just as likely to assist in the preparation of the defendant’s defense as
exculpatory evidence.” United States v. Safavian, 233 F.R.D. 12, 15 (D.D.C. 2005) (internal
quotation omitted).

| | 15 T
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that ‘his insights regarding North Korea were being ignored or rejected by other personnel.””
See Fifth Motion at 11-12.

In its opposition, the govemment attempts to avoid a clear and straight-forward request
by taking issue with the wording of that request. Latching onto the defense’s use of an “and/or”
clause, the government érgues that the defense’s request is averbroad because the government’s
motive theory “is more specific, i.e., that the defendant was disgruntied because he believed that

- his insights regarding North Korea were being ignored by senior government officials whom he
derided in his emails, like Stephen Bosworth, Christopher Hill, Sung Kim, and Victor Cha.”
Opp. at 30 (emphasis in original). The Qovemment also complains that that the request is

| “unbounded by any time restriction,” but assures the Court that “it believes it has met its
obligations with respect to the government’s motive theory.” Opp. at 31. The government’s
response is inadequate, for several reasons.

Fifst, the government’s criticism of the “and/or” clause is inaccurate. The defense’s
motion was tied directly to the scape of the government’s own motive theory. It sought to
comipel the production of “documents or other evidence tending to support or refute the
government’s claim that....” Fifth Motion at 11 (emphasis added). For that reason, the example
provided by the government xmsses the mark. To our knowledge, the government has not
claimed that Mr. Kim “was unhappy about his job because he believed his pay was too low.”
Opp. at 30. Such documents therefore are not responsive to the defense’s request. If the
government had made such a ciaim, then documents supporting or refuting that claim would be

discoverable by virtue of the government’s own theory. If the government finds the defense’s

16
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request vague oroverbroad, that is a reflection of its motive theory, not the wording of the
requcst‘ i
Second, after refusing to clarify its motive theory during the meet-and-confer process, the
. government states for the first time in its opposition that its theory is specific to “senior

government officials ... like Stephen Bosworth, Christopher Hill, Sung Kim, and Victor Cha.”
Opp. at 30. 'I‘hosé names are nowhere to be found in the government’s motive letter, which
alluded only to “other government personnel,” not even “senior government officials.” See Fifth
Motion, Ex. 3. If the government’s theory is in fact limited to those four individuals, then it
would be appropriate for’ the Court to order the production of any documents or other evidence
tending to support or refute the government’s assertion that Mr Kim was dmgrunﬂed because he
believed that his insights were being ignored or rejected by Mr. Bosworth, Mr. Hill, Mr. Sung
Kim, or Mr. Cha. But, if that truly is the government's theory, it would be surprising, as the
defense is unaware of any evidence that Mr. Kim ever worked for or discussed North Korean
issues with any of the named individuals. It is therefore difficult to imagine how they could have

“ignored or re_}ectod” Mr. Kim’s “insights,” or how Mr. Kim could be “disgruntled because” they
did so, see Opp. at 30, when there is no evidence that Mr. Kim’s “insights™ were ever prescnted

to them in the first instance.”® Opp. at 30.

'* The same is ttue of the government’s complaint that/the request is “unbounded by any time
restriction.” Opp. at 30. The government’s motive letter does not state when Mr. Kim’s views
were rejected or ignored, or when he became disgruntled. The defense’s request is therefore no
mare or less “unbounded” than the government's own motive theory.

'3 The only evidence cited in support of the government’s Bosworth-Hill-Sung Kim-Cha theory
is that Mr. Kim wrote emails allegedly “deriding” them. Opp. at 30. But “deriding” public
figures whose views are unpopular is not the same thing as being “disgruntled” because one
believes that those officials have rejected or ignored one’s insights — particularly when there is
no evidence that such “insights” were ever presented to them.
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Third, although the government claims that it has “met its [discovery] obligations with
respect to the government’s motive theory,” it proceeds to drop a foomote demonstrating that, in
- fact, it clearly has not done so. See Opp. at 31 & n.29. In its motion, the defense noted that — if
the government really intends to argue that Mr. Kim leaked the intelligence report due to a belief
that his insights were being ignored or rejected by government officials - any “any emails from
his supervisors or colleagues acknowledging the usefulness of defendant’s views or accepting his
recommendations would be discoverable,” as they refute the government’s assertions regarding
Mr. Kim’s state of mind. Fifth Motion at 12 n.8. In its opposition, the government fails to
address this argument, stating only — without explanation — that the defense’s posiﬁon is “not
tenable.”' To the contrary, emails and other decuments demonstrating that, during the period of
his alleged “disgruntlement,” “senior government officials™ actively solicited Mr. Kim’s wput
and accepted his recommendations would be plainly discoverable, as they tend to show that Mr,
Kim’s “insights” were not being “ignored or rejected” as the government claims. In any event,
the government concedes this point by failing to address the substance of the defense’s
argument, and should be ordered to produce the materials described in the defense’s motion.

‘Defendant’s motion to coniéel also seeks the production of certain categories of
the government rcﬁtséé .ta:dis'closé; ‘to three cleared defense counsel working in a government
SCIF. See Fifth Motion a Through the meet-and-confer process and in its opposition,

the government agreed to produce six of the ten categories of information requested by the

16 The government also states, incorrectly, that the argument was “seemingly abandoned in the
defendant’s motion to compel.” Opp. at 31 n.29. To the contrary, the defense expressly cited
such emails as an example of documents “that will be responsive and discoverable, based on the
government’s theory,” in its motion. See Fifth Motion at 12 & n.8.
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defense.'” See Opp. at 32-34. The defense agreed not to pursue two of the ten categories of
information at this time."® The only remaining items in dispute are the defense’s requests for two
days’ worth of] _records.lg See Fifth Motion at-
Before addressingi those requests, however, the defense must correct a misperception
created by the government regarding the scope of discovery that it has provided—
— In its opposition, the government continues to insist that it has provided

the defendant with “voluminous” discovery regardi
— Opp. at 36. Nothing could be further from the case. Although the

government has provided FBI-302s and related documents for|

For examplé’, Exhibit 3 is the government’s entire production with respect

The Court will note that thc govermnent has net disclosed

disclosed to Mr. Rosen Thcre are no— Exhibit 4 is the
government’s entire production with respactm_'rhe Court

will note that the government has not disclosed_

1 The government inaccurately states that it has produced, or will shortly produce, discovery
responsive to seven of the ten categories requested by the defense. The items from the defense’s
June 14th letter that the government has agreed to produce are items 6(a), 6(d), 6(e), 6(h), 6(i),
and 6(j). See Fifth Motion, Ex. 1, at 2-3.

12 The defense agreed not to pursue items 6(f) and 6(g) at this time.
1% The items in dispute are items 6(b) and 6(c) from the defense’s June 14th letter.

T e e
I
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In a normal case, the defense could utilimz—

and conduct further investigation as necessary. In this case,

the defense cannot imagine how the government expects competent defense counsel to

adequately investigam— based solely on what little

discovery has actually been provided.

1. -Records

With respect to the defense’s specific request for-records, the government states

that it “will produce on or before August 23, 2013,

but that

so because those records could reflect

The government states, in other words,

that it will produce records of|

The latercategry, of couse, o[

This response is troubling. The defense has only mquested-records from June 10-
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The only

“anyones” who would see the—records are cleared defense counsel, who are

prohibited from using classified information in that matter and would agree not to do so, in any

could be redacted from the records while the

event, Moreover,

discovcrability—was litigated, so long as the-records still identified

All of these issues are easily addressed, and
cannot possibly serve as an excuse £o withhold otherwise discoverable information.

As to the merits of the defense’s request, the government dismisses the request as a
“fishing expedition” but fails to adequately explain why that is the case. See Opp. at 35-37. In

its motion, the defense noted that-records are relevant and helpful to the preparation of the

defense “to allow the defense to determine

Fifth Motion at. While the government paints this rationale as

mere “speculation” from the “fertile imagination of counsel,” see Opp. at 36-37, it is undisputed

on June 11, 2009,

Evidence that
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2. -Remrds
For the same reasons, the defense also requcsted- records fo—

opposition, the government states that any such emails were included in its “electronic search

and review of I i

view, all disc_ovefable-havc therefore been produced.”® Opp. at 38. The adequacy of the

govsrmnent’:- search protocol is presently pending before the Court, so the defense does
not separately address that issue here.

The defense notes, however, that while the government represents that it has produced ail

“IdJocuments reflecting

For the reasons described in the section above,

-e plaihly exculpatory. But they are unlikely to have been captured
by the goVemmcnt’s-scamh protocol, which failed to include—v

2 The government also lumps the defense’s request for-xcoords together with its request

for records, claiming that both requests are nothing more than a “fishing expedition,” etc.

See Opp. at 35-39. The defense responds to those arguments directly above in its discussion of
records.

o ' 22
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N -
the government’s search protocol rémains pending before the Court.
C. Qutstanding Ytems Addressed in the Court’s Prior Rulings
The defense also moved to compel additional information regarding several iterns
addressed in the Court’s rulings on defendant’s carlier motions to compel. See Fifth Maotion at
18-23. In its opposition, the government accuses the defense of relitigating past issues, but does
not squarely address the substance of the defense’s requests. The relevant requests are discussed
in turn below.
1. The Government’s Representations Regarding Additional Reports
In its motion, the defense noted that the Court appeared to rely, in its prior ruling, ona
representation by the government regarding its production of other intelligence reports that
differed substantially from representations that had been made by the government during the
meet-and-confer process. See Fifth Motion at 19; Fifth Motion, Ex. 1, at 3. To avoid any
confusion, the defense thus moved to compel the production of any intelligence reports created

between May 25,2009, axd Jure 11, 2009 |

See Fifth Motion at 19,

The governme t could have resolved this request simply by confirming the representation

that it apparently made to the Court at some prior time, ie., that it has searched for and produced

\ _ - Opinion on First Motion at 6 (emphasis added). Strikingly, the government doeg not do

so. Instead, the government vaguely alludes to its own ex parte CIPA Section 4 filings (which

the defense obviously has not seen), and refuses to confirm that it has, in fact, searched for and

\
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The defense objected to the government’s motion to proceed ex parte in this case

precisely because the lack of adversatial proceedings leaves the government free to make
representations to the Court that are untested, or that gloss over distinctions that are critical to the
preparation of Mr. Kim’s defense. In this particular instance, the defense hereby provides notice
that, to its knowledge, the representation relied on by the Court on page six of its opinion on
defendant’s first motion to compel is not accurate. See Fifth Motion at 19. The fact that the
government réfuses to confirm its own pfior representation serves as compelling evidence that it
has not, in fact, searched for and produced all intelligence reports that are respousive to the

request made by the defense.

2 T reportton

[n its motion, the defense also noted a similar discrepancy with respect to the Court’s
prior ruling on its request for a report from—described by Danicel
Russel. See Fifth Motion at 19-21. In its opinion, the Court ruled that the issue was moot
because “{t]he dcfendaﬁt has received the information referred to by Mr. Russel during his

interview.” Opinion on First Motion at 14. When the defense notified the government that it

21 If the government has, in fact, moved to withhold from discovery additional intelligence

the defense cannot imagine
how such reports wouldmdt be “relevant and helpful” to the preparation of Mr. Kim’s defense.
This case involves an oral disclosure, and there is no direct evidence of what was actually
communicated to Mr. Rosen, or by whom. The question whether the intelligence information
allegedly contained in the Rosen article came from one intelligence report or several different
intelligence reports is plainly a question of fact for the jury. Moreover, the government’s theory
that the information about
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4 had not, i fact, received the report imnﬁ—ihi’ government insisted

-ai;w Fifth Motion at 20. In its motion to compel, the defense pointed out that the

ernent’s response was implausible, as the government had not produced {hﬁ.

emall sl July 2, 2013 -

maore than a month after the Court’s ruling on defendant’s first motion.
'I‘hzﬁ-cn::;iii therctore was not an item that the defendant had already received at the
time of the Cowrt’s ruling.

In its opposition, the government does not appear to grasp the issue. stating that il is

. “perplexed” by the defendant’s position. Opp. at 41. The issue is actually quite simple, The

-mm the “report from —midrm;fmi i the Cour’s
_x,mmi as of the e of that
inion and the opinion states quite clearly that the defendant had already received the
miormation o which 8 eferred. 1f 13‘se_umaif-2_i§€ “report §’rmw;.
—i"ﬁf(?rm’u‘,’wé by Mr. Russel (which the delense very much doubts, see

Fifth Motion ay? 20}, then the government's s representation 1o the Court is not accurate, becauss

carlier opinion, becausy the defensge had not received

the defense did not receive that email until July 2nd, more than a month after the Court’s rulin ng;

The government's siatement that ﬁze—mnaii—
_ only further confuses this issue, as the defense requested

production of “the report 12‘{3&3— identificd by Mr. i?gus;xci‘-
-in Wir. Russel™s 302, Opp.at 41 {emphasis
added). To be clear, if there is a separate document containing a “report tmm—

-ﬁm has not been produced, the defense has moved to compel its production. [f, on the

other hand, the government simply misinformed the Court in prior briefings that it had already
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provided a document to the defense when it bad not, in fact, done so, the government could

simply say so. The government’s current response fails to address the specific request made by
the defense.

5. N
Finally, the defense alsé n{a:?ed to compel the production of an,y—
-rel ated to the intelligence report that was drafted or circulated prior to 3:16 pm.
on June 11, 2009, as well as unredacted copies of th-naterial.s that the Court
ordered the goverument to produce on July 2, 2013. See Fifth Motion at 21-23. In its
opposition, the government claims that. it has already produced all-matcrials and
confirms, for the first time, that it has not produced any—
-22 See Opp. at 41-42. .Th.e government also stateé that it will submit its redactions to the
materials produced on July 2 to the Court for in camera review under CIPA § 4. Id. at 42 n.40.
Because so much of the iitigation.regarding the- materials has already taken

place ex parte, it is difficultto. imagine what more the government can say about those materials

to avoid its discovery obligations. As the defense explained in its motioh, the government has

produced documents expressly referring to—c‘irculated sometime between

I - .16 1 (e sl

cut-off time). See :F ifth Motion. at 21 .22 & Ex. 8. The defense has moved to compel the

production of any such_hut the government continues to represent that no such-

-cxists.

22 Afier three separate requests, the government finally provided the Bates numbers of the actual
excerpts that have been produced to the defense. Oaly one of those Bates pages was
produced to the defense following the Court’s rulings on defendant’s first set of motions, and
Wge (CLASS_3207) is simply a copy of t;c:%attachcd to
email.
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With respect to the Court’s expected in camera review of the redacted-

materials produced to the defense on July 2nd, it will be apparent to the Court during its review

that there are at least three sets oi-d.ocumcnts that exist, but that have not been

produced to the defense: (1) a—(z) a separatc—on
the intelligence report; and (3) a series of revisions and éomments_ln

particular, the defense requests that the Court consider the following when conducting its in

camera review:> 5

23 The emails cited below are attached as Exhibit 5.
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oL Conclusion
For all of the foregoing reasons and any others appearing to the Court, defendant’s fifth

motion to compel discovery should be granted.

Respectfully submitted,

DATED: August 23,2013 /s/ Abbe David Lowell
Abbe David Lowell (DC Bar No. 358651)
Keith M. Rosen (DC Bar No. 495943)
Scott W. Coyle (DC Bar No. 1005985)
CHADBOURNE & PARKE LLP
1200 New Hampshire Ave NW
Washington, DC 20036

Counsel for Defendant Stephen Kim



